

This submiss	ion may be qı	uoted in public	documents.	
Contact:				
Phone:		1		
Email:				
Author:				



Acknowledgement of First Nations Peoples

Anglicare Southern Queensland acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the first Australians and recognises their culture, history, diversity and deep connection to the land. We acknowledge the Traditional Owners and Custodians of the land on which our service was founded and on which our sites are operating today.

We pay our respects to the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander elders both past and present, who have influenced and supported Anglicare Southern



Artwork by Olivene Yasso to celebrate 150 years of Anglicare
Read more at anglicaresq.org.au/reconciling-story/150-years-of-anglicare-sqcommemorating-our-indigenous-past-present-and-future

Queensland on its journey thus far. We also extend that respect to our Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff, clients and partners (past, present and future) and we hope we can work together to build a service that values and respects our First Nations people.

We acknowledge the past and present injustices that First Nations people have endured and seek to understand and reconcile these histories as foundational to moving forward together in unity.

Anglicare is committed to being more culturally responsive and inclusive of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and we are committed to embedding cultural capabilities across all facets of the organisation.

About Anglicare Southern Queensland

Anglicare SQ's experience in identifying and responding to the needs of vulnerable members of our many and varied communities is underpinned by 150 years of delivering innovative, quality care services.

More than 3,000 staff and volunteers operate across southern Queensland and in Longreach and Townsville. We offer a comprehensive, integrated range of community services that comprises community aged care, residential aged care and community support programs, including child safety, disability support, counselling and education, mental health, homelessness and chronic conditions. Our services are designed to 'wrap around' clients in a comprehensive way, recognising their health needs but also addressing the social needs which contribute to wellness.

Hanging by a Thread: Our Search for Home

Hanging by a Thread: Our Search for Home is a photovoice project in which young people from Anglicare's youth homelessness services explored their personal perceptions of home and homelessness through candid, thought-provoking and at times, challenging photographs.

What does it feel like to have a place to call home? What does it mean to belong — or to be disconnected? How does it feel to be forced to grow up too quickly?

This project is a collaboration between Anglicare Southern Queensland and The University of Queensland Life Course Centre.

Permission for use of the photos included in this submission has been provided by the photographers. We thank them for their skill, creativity and generosity in allowing us to share their work.

Front cover: Hanging by a Thread (Anonymous)

Below: Left to Wander (Harmony)

p. v: If found, please return to... (Anonymous)

p. 15: Shopping list (Anonymous)



Contents

Ackn	owledgement of First Nations Peoples	ii
Abou	t Anglicare Southern Queensland	ii
Hang	ing by a Thread: Our Search for Home	iii
1.0	Introduction	1
2.0	Reducing homelessness?	2
3.0	Fixing the system	3
	A brief history of housing and homelessness policy and programs in Australia	3
4.0	Interventions and supports	5
	A Housing First approach	5
	'Rapid rehousing'	6
	Increased support for specialist homelessness services	7
	The housing challenges of First Nations peoples	7
	Prevention and early intervention	8
	Supply	8
	Income sufficiency	9
	Climate resilience and disaster preparedness	11
5.0	Success factors	12
	A sound evidence base and scalability	12
	Workforce	13
	Coordination and integration of services	13
8.0	A final word	14
Endn	otes	16



1.0 Introduction

Anglicare Southern Queensland (Anglicare SQ) welcomes the invitation to make a submission to the Australian Government Department of Social Services (DSS) consultation to inform a National Housing and Homelessness Plan.

We bring to this submission the direct experience and expertise of Anglicare Southern Queensland staff in delivering a wide range of services for those who are experiencing, or are at risk of homelessness, including accommodation and support, tenancy support, healthcare, counselling and advocacy.

We also bring a willingness to question the systems we work within: to ask what values and attitudes drive society's investment in housing and homelessness. It is the answers to these larger questions that should underpin a National Plan for Housing and Homelessness, and determine how we direct our finite resources. As social entrepreneur Nic Frances asks:

How do we create a market for positive social change? For a start, we have to price the things we want to achieve according to their value and the cost of not having them.¹

In this submission, we begin by stepping outside the complex labyrinth of interventions and approaches that characterise the housing and homelessness sector, and asking – as a society and government, what values and priorities are we funding and servicing? Since we operate in a market economy, what are the costs and benefits of those decisions?

The answers to those questions provide a framework and a direction for the Plan as it addresses the pragmatic issue of how to alleviate homelessness.

In October 2023, we prepared a staff survey based on the DSS public survey at engage.dss.gov.au. The survey was not intended to be representative of the

broader Australian community, and the results are not statistically rigorous. Rather, we wanted to provide an opportunity for our own Anglicare community, and particularly staff working with people in programs such as those listed right, to share their views on what will make a difference for those caught up in the current housing crisis.

Anglicare Homelessness Services

- Accommodation and Support: We provided more than 42,000 hours of accommodation and/or support to single women, women with children and young people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness in the 2021-22 FY.
- Early Intervention: We focus on early intervention strategies, helping individuals maintain their existing tenancies through advocacy and education.
- Transition Accommodation:
 Our programs establish long-term supportive relationships with clients, empowering them to achieve their goals.
- Healthcare Services: We provide nursing, first aid, wound care, physical health monitoring, and health education, addressing both immediate needs and long-term challenges.
- Counselling and Advocacy: Our commitment to social inclusion includes offering counselling and advocacy services for those at risk of homelessness.
- Outreach Support: Our outreach service reaches out to homeless individuals in our local community, ensuring they receive the support they need.

1

The input we received was wide-ranging and thoughtful. Staff identified gaps and inefficiencies in the housing and energy sectors, for example, that mean existing houses are left empty or essentially unlivable in increasingly volatile climate conditions. They noted the critical importance of providing wrap-around services where they are needed. In particular, staff emphasised the need for strategies shaped by ground-up approaches that ask people what they need, and don't assume that 'just any roof' will meet people's needs for a sense of home, community and their overall wellbeing.

As a society, we know that secure, affordable and appropriate housing provides the bedrock for wellbeing. Other components of wellbeing, such as good nutrition and health, strong relationships, and meaningful work and learning are much harder to achieve without the stability of a home.

With this point at the forefront of our submission, and informed by many years of experience, we address key questions from the Issues Paper. We then conclude by drawing together the threads of the discussion to summarise the contributions of the Anglicare SQ community to this consultation.

2.0 Reducing homelessness?

How can governments and community service providers reduce homelessness and/or support people who may be at risk of becoming homeless in Australia?

This question is at the heart of this consultation. It is therefore very important that, as a community, we get the framing right. Do we want to 'reduce' or 'manage' homelessness — or do we want to *end* it?

This is not a fanciful goal. Juha Kaakinen, CEO of Y-Foundation, a global leader in implementing the Housing First principle and CEO of Finland's largest not-for-profit housing association, notes that there is a false economy in simply dealing with homelessness as an inevitable fact of life:

All this costs money, but there is ample evidence from many countries that shows it is always more cost-effective to aim to end homelessness instead of simply trying to manage it. Investment in ending homelessness always pays back, to say nothing of the human and ethical reasons.²

This shift in focus requires attention and investment at every point of the housing continuum from prevention and early intervention through to crisis accommodation. There are significant gaps at every one of these points and for the foreseeable future, we will continue to need to fill those gaps. Our priority, however, should be systemic — *fixing the system* so that we are solving homelessness, not constantly servicing crisis.

In Anglicare SQ's submission to the Senate inquiry into the extent and nature of poverty in Australia,³ we argued that poverty is a policy decision, not an inevitable fact of life. What happens to individuals and families who have little power, we pointed out, is directly related to the decisions of government and politicians, who have much. As

social commentator Greg Jericho has argued, inequality is effectively set at the level the government of the day is content with.⁴

We suggest that 'poverty', in this statement, could easily be replaced with 'homelessness'.

The development of the National Housing and Homelessness Plan is a chance to turn this state of affairs on its head; think big, and differently; and address the roots of housing inequality.

3.0 Fixing the system

A brief history of housing and homelessness policy and programs in Australia

The issue of homelessness first started to gain the attention of policy makers during the 1930s and 1940s, with the combined impacts of the Depression and the scarcity of labour and building materials to build appropriate and secure housing. In 1944, the newly-appointed Commonwealth Housing Commission reported a shortage of some 700,000 dwellings;⁵ and the Government consequently began a program of public housing construction, with the aim of simultaneously stimulating the economy, providing people on lower incomes with secure accommodation, and increasing workforce participation.⁶ From 1945 to the early 1950s, meeting housing need was a priority reflected in the consistent growth of public housing dwelling completions. In total, nearly 670,000 homes were built during the term of the first Commonwealth State Housing Agreement (CSHA), from 1945–1956.⁷ Professor Dave Adamson, from Compass Housing, points out that:

The funding of such an exercise at a difficult time indicates that contemporary governments make an active choice not to fund a similar program and ground that choice in arguments of austerity that do not measure up against the deprivations of the immediate post-war years.⁸

The proportion of the total number of completed dwellings annually that were public housing was commonly around 13–14%.9

From 1956, however, there was a distinct shift in Government policy towards encouraging home ownership and supporting low-income households in the public rental market.¹⁰ By the 1970s and 1980s, public housing accounted for around 10% of all residential dwellings built;¹¹ and over the last decade, it has rarely been above 3%, with our population now approximately 26 million.¹²

As the commitment to public housing has declined over time, there has been a parallel increase in private sector housing initiatives, and an expansion in funding for welfare with, as Adamson notes, a "developing perception of State housing as 'welfare housing'". The *Homeless Persons Assistance Act* came into being in 1974, designed to assist homeless persons by subsidising the organisations that provided services to them; and in the mid 1980s the Supported Accommodation Assistance Program (SAAP) and the Crisis Accommodation Programs (CAP) were

introduced. By 2008-09, SAAP funding had expanded to \$384 million with over 1,500 agencies funded. Public housing came to be reserved for those households with greater disadvantage and higher and more complex needs, especially people experiencing homelessness, 14 rather than the "general low-income families" that were supported in the post war years. 15 The right to public housing was, and continues to be, seen as temporary; and tenants who improve their conditions are expected to move into the private rental market, with the potential support of welfare subsidies such as Commonwealth Rental Assistance. 16

For at least the last decade, however, the private rental market has been failing those on low incomes. The Anglicare Australia *Rental Affordability Snapshot* has shown again and again that almost no homes exist in the private market for those on income support or minimum wage. In 2023, for example, out of 45,895 rental listings Australia-wide on a designated weekend in March, we found that:

- 345 rentals (0.8%) were affordable for a person earning a full-time minimum wage
- 162 rentals (0.4%) were affordable for a person on the Age Pension
- 66 rentals (0.1%) were affordable for a person on the Disability Support Pension
- 4 rentals, (0%) all sharehouses, were affordable for a person on JobSeeker
- 0 rentals (0%) were affordable for a person on Youth Allowance.

Unsurprisingly, the political and social shifts outlined above have not reduced homelessness. In 1973, the 'Working Party on Homeless Men and Women' estimated that there were not more than 25,000 people experiencing homelessness across Australia: at the time of the 2021 Census, 122,494 people were estimated to be experiencing homelessness, an increase of 6,067 people (5.2%) since just 2016.¹⁸

The point of tracing this brief history is to demonstrate the impact of ideology on the nature of our investment into housing, and the way we address homelessness. As a society, we have moved away from a view of housing as not just a human right, but also necessary for a healthy economy and society — a benefit not just for those who need it, but for the whole community. We are at war with crisis, with an armory full of fragmented interventions that simply encourage more crisis. Crisis accommodation simply hides the long term homeless from sight.

While we work within a system that creates this level of need, there is no question that we must continue to fund and support intervention services at every level. The following section identifies our support for broad evidence-based approaches that have been proven to move individuals and families out of homelessness, and spotlights areas of service delivery that require more focused attention and funding.

At the same time, we urgently need to be asking how our current mindset *contributes* to a continuing problem, and what impact a truly groundbreaking investment in actual houses would have on the wellbeing of all Australians.

4.0 Interventions and supports

A Housing First approach

All Australians, regardless of their circumstances, have the right to safe and affordable housing. This foundational point should be explicit in the National Housing and Homelessness Plan and underpin every strategy outlined within it.

Anglicare supports, therefore, a Housing First approach that reflects the integrity and original goal of that model. The model was designed to support people with extremely high and complex needs — not, as it appears in some contexts, a model that is "indistinguishable from housing-and-nothing-else".¹⁹

The case study to the right²⁰ provides one demonstration of the effectiveness of the model for people with high needs. A range of Housing First trials in Australia has also shown that the combination of housing, assertive outreach and ongoing flexible support had overwhelmingly positive and sustainable outcomes for people sleeping rough.^{21,22} An interactive data visualisation²³ from the US-based National Alliance to End Homelessness provides a further clear depiction of the weight of evidence supporting Housing First interventions.

In Finland, homeless policies have been based on a Housing First approach since 2008. It is the only country in the European Union with decreasing homelessness numbers and almost no people sleeping rough.²⁴

A Housing First case study: Santa Clara

The target population for this intervention was people with extremely high needs. Participants averaged five hospitalisations, 20 visits to the emergency department, five to psychiatric emergency services, and three to jail in the two years prior to being enrolled.

The results of the intervention were extraordinary: 86% were successfully housed and remained housed for the vast majority of the follow-up period (which averaged around three years). Similarly, there was a sharp drop in utilisation of emergency psychiatric services among the treatment group, corresponding to a rise in scheduled mental health visits.

When the researchers revisited Santa Clara for additional data some time after the original reporting, they found that more than 90% of participants had been housed and remained housed over the long term.

In Australia, however, the model has historically been under-funded, and implemented through discrete, geographically haphazard, programs offered largely by not-for-profit organisations. As Homelessness Australia point out, we have "a situation where we know how to end rough sleeping for good, but we only do so in certain parts of the country".²⁵

Researcher Andrew Clarke notes that Housing First was implemented in Finland as "a *system wide* reform program rather than as a discrete program operating within

an unchanged system" (our italics).²⁶ Its status as a mainstream national homelessness policy and common framework has supported the establishment of diverse partnerships between state authorities, local communities and non-governmental organisations, with targeted measures made possible by cooperation.²⁷

'Rapid rehousing'

Anglicare supports a 'rapid rehousing' approach for individuals and families experiencing episodic homelessness, rather than the chronic homelessness and highly complex needs that characterise participants in Housing First programs. Like Housing First, rapid re-housing has no 'readiness requirements', but aims to help people exit homelessness (ie crisis mode) and stabilise in housing as quickly and efficiently as possible.^{28,29}

Several US-based agencies have undertaken evaluations of rapid rehousing initiatives in their jurisdictions. These include whether program participants (individuals and families) were living in permanent housing following the end of assistance, and whether they returned to homelessness after a specified period of time. Overall, the results indicated high rates of establishment in permanent housing and few returns to homelessness.³⁰ Other evidence from a randomised controlled trial of homeless families with children shows that families who received priority access to rapid re-housing assistance moved into their own place more quickly and were significantly more likely to be living in their own place during the first year after random assignment than those receiving usual care.³¹

Similarly, the evaluation of a 12-month NSW Rapid Rehousing demonstration project, despite time and process constraints and challenges, noted that:

... the vast majority of tenancies secured through Rapid Rehousing have so far been able to be sustained – this means that costs

Rapid Rehousing Pilot to house women and children leaving refuges

The two-year Rapid Rehousing Pilot for Women and Children initiative will support eligible women, with or without children, to leave refuges and secure tenancies in the private rental market. It will provide up to 40 women a year with assistance packages, including a contribution toward the bond and a rental subsidy of \$400 per week for 20 weeks.

The Pilot is designed to help participants to avoid homelessness or a return to the perpetrator of their abuse. It will provide a financial safety net which will allow women to retain more disposable income to assist them to build independent, stable lives.

A second initiative, the Rapid Rehousing Pilot for Aboriginal Women and Children, will be rolled out later this year. This focused pilot will assist Aboriginal women and children due to them being significantly overrepresented in experiencing family and domestic violence and homelessness.

associated with repeat use of Temporary Accommodation have been avoided as well as the costs associated with homelessness.³²

The Rapid Rehousing model is highly flexible and can be structured in different ways to meet local circumstances, funding and the needs of specific groups, as can be seen in the Western Australian pilot project described above.³³

Increased support for specialist homelessness services

Because of the failures of the system at earlier points of the continuum and the particular challenges of the COVID and post-Covid environment, specialist homelessness services are themselves at a crisis point. We need an immediate boost to the funding for specialist homelessness services to address the 'turn away rate'. Behind this somewhat abstract terminology is an individual or a family like the one our ER staff described:

[The case that sticks in my head is that of] a woman who has terminal cancer, and is fleeing domestic violence. She and her children lived in a caravan until that became unaffordable and, despite approaches to every possible support agency, are now living in her car. Her greatest fear is that her children will wake up one morning in the car next to her body.

Additional support for specialist homelessness services should comprise an increase to base funding, so that services have the stability to be able to plan ahead and retain staff; but it should also allow for 'surges' of demand. People do not find themselves homeless in a neatly spaced-out fashion. Demand is often sporadic and uneven, and services need the capacity to fund additional shifts or brokerage as required. No one in need should ever be turned away to sleep rough, or in an unsafe environment.

Addressing the specific housing challenges of First Nations peoples

Particular attention should be directed to the specific housing challenges of First Nations individuals and families.

The Issues Paper outlines the disproportionate rates of housing inequality faced by Indigenous Australians compared with non-Indigenous Australians. While many of the threats to wellbeing from housing inequality can be seen across disadvantaged population groups, the history of colonisation and the relationship of First Nations people to their land, and other cultural considerations, intensify the importance of housing conditions as a determinant of health for Indigenous Australians.³⁴

While recognising that the circumstances and views of First Nations peoples will differ across Australia, the Queensland *Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Housing Action Plan 2019–2023* may offer some valuable input to the National Plan. The Queensland document acknowledges that access to safe, secure and culturally appropriate housing is the first step to closing the gap in all areas of life, but that the nature of that home is likely to differ depending on personal

circumstances and where people live. Based on extensive consultation with First Nations peoples across the state, the key themes of the *Action Plan* are:

- Increase housing supply and more affordable housing
- Develop local solutions with shared leadership
- Deliver appropriate housing
- Provide greater housing choices
- Culture is key to opening doors for all
- Utilise housing delivery to provide jobs, training and opportunities to grow local communities
- Provide support services for vulnerable cohorts.

This last theme, regarding support services for vulnerable cohorts, raises a point related to the section above. Specialist homelessness services are used by Indigenous Australians at eleven times the rate of non-Indigenous Australians (821 compared with 74 per 10,000 population). In 2021–22, around 8% of the Indigenous population used such services.³⁵ Given these figures, it is important to meaningfully engage with First Nations individuals and families to ensure that the specialist homelessness service sector is both culturally appropriate and accessible.

Prevention and early intervention

The following comment from the Benioff Housing and Homelessness Initiative (BHHI) at the University of California (San Francisco) is a compelling argument for the need to fund prevention and early intervention interventions in conjunction with Housing First-based approaches to existing homelessness:

[W]hile Housing First [and Rapid Rehousing] programs are the best way to help most people who are already homeless, they do not prevent people from becoming homeless in the first place. If Housing First programs were to successfully re-house 10,000 people over one year, but rising housing costs forced 20,000 people into homelessness over the same period, then the homeless population will have grown on net. That is why Housing First interventions need to be paired with policies that bring down housing costs, offer protection to struggling renters, and prevent people from falling into homelessness in the first place.³⁶

Supply

Some of the most obvious issues here relate to supply. No homelessness program or programs will address the housing crisis without a simultaneous investment in social and affordable housing. As researchers Hal Pawson and Cameron Parsell point out:

[H]omelessness cannot be overcome purely through better management and co-ordination of existing services.... We have to

reduce reliance on band-aid interventions that are costly and, at best, only lessen the harm.³⁷

There are multiple options for funding new supply, and housing specialist economists and researchers address these with more expertise than we do. QShelter's recent *Submission to the SEQ Regional Plan Update* includes proposed measures which relate to both general housing affordability and, more specifically, to the provision of social and affordable housing.³⁸ The Grattan Institute's submission to the Senate Standing Committees on Community Affairs inquiry into the rental crisis also addresses housing supply, pointing out that:

... housing costs – especially rents – would have risen less [in recent years] if there had been more housing. Australia has among the least housing per person of any country in the OECD, and is one of only four countries where housing per person went backwards over the past two decades.³⁹

Anglicare Australia, in their response to the same inquiry, noted that the Federal Government has pointed to its proposed Housing Australia Future Fund as its response to the supply crisis. However, the 30,000 homes promised across five years⁴⁰ is a long way from Australia's 640,000 home shortfall.⁴¹ After years of under-investment in social housing, social housing stock has simply not kept pace with the growth in population, with demand now far outweighing supply. Housing has become less and less affordable over that same period. Turning this around will require regular, on-budget commitments well beyond the proposed Fund.

But turning it round, as Anglicare Australia points out, will leave a legacy of tackling the housing crisis and transforming hundreds of thousands of lives.⁴²

Income sufficiency

The Coronavirus Supplement was introduced in 2020 to support vulnerable Australians in a time of unprecedented crisis. After 26 years of stagnancy, income support was raised to a point that enabled many people to both eat and pay rent at the same time — to live just above the poverty line instead of struggling below.

The scrapping of the Coronavirus Supplement, replaced by an inadequate 'boost' of \$50/fortnight, or \$3.57 per day⁴³ was, for many, a return to rental stress and poverty. Further minor increases and routine indexation to adjust for inflation at the beginning of each year have done little to resolve the issue. In an environment where rents have risen by about 18 per cent, energy bills by about 20 per cent and food by about 9 per cent in just in 2022, such increases are woefully inadequate.⁴⁴

The combination of insufficient income and a desperate lack of housing availability means that families currently in, or on the edge of, poverty are more than likely to never find their way out. As one of our staff members recently commented:

When Centrelink payments were increased during early Covid stages Anglicare closed, or redistributed staff from emergency relief roles as there was not enough demand. That was brilliant. Now we are constantly seeking donations and supporting families to meet the basic needs of themselves and their children. Our capacity to promote long term positive change and good outcomes for children, who are our future, is significantly negatively impacted as financial stress takes too much emotional toll on parents/carers and too much worker's time & focus.

Nor is Commonwealth Rent Assistance (CRA) sufficient to relieve the rental stress faced by people on low incomes, despite a recent increase. In their submission to the Parliamentary inquiry into housing affordability and supply in Australia, the Gratton Institute pointed out that the maximum rent assistance payment is indexed in line with CPI, but rents have been growing faster than CPI for a long time. CRA should be indexed to changes in rents typically paid by people receiving income support so that its value is maintained. Similarly, the Henry Tax Review recommended:

Rent Assistance payment rates should be increased so that assistance is sufficient to support access to an adequate level of housing.

Maximum assistance should be indexed to move in line with market rents. 46

Recent research from Anglicare Australia also shows that the payment is both insufficient and poorly targeted:

- One in two people who get rent assistance (46%) are still in rental stress
- Young people fare even worse, with two in three young people on rent assistance (60%) still in rental stress
- The payment leaves out people on the lowest incomes. Only one in three people on the JobSeeker payment is eligible for the payment (38%), and only one in ten young people out of work (12%)
- Almost no rental vacancies are affordable for people who get rent assistance.⁴⁷

The costs of raising both welfare payments and CRA could be met, as numerous commentators have pointed out, by scrapping the Stage 3 tax cuts scheduled for July 2024. The people who will benefit most from the planned tax cuts are amongst the wealthiest in the country. Those already in poverty, homeless or in rental stress, will benefit least or not at all. Social commentator Greg Jericho points out:

Income tax is crucial to reducing inequality, but mostly through how much it allows governments to redistribute income though benefits and services. If you massively reduce the level of revenue, as the stage-three tax cuts will do, inevitably government benefits and services will need to be cut. And when you cut government services, you raise inequality.⁴⁸

In a society that values equality, the more than a quarter of a trillion dollars saved by scrapping the tax cuts would be better spent supporting people out of poverty. In a recent open letter by the leaders of major faith-based charities, it was pointed out that the funds could, among other benefits:

- raise working age payments to the poverty line, lifting 2.3 million Australians, including 840,000 children, out of poverty
- enable the Government to build 36,000 social homes each year. This
 program would end the shortfall and provide affordable homes to hundreds
 of thousands of people.⁴⁹

In fact, the costings for these two initiatives come in around \$208 billion over ten years, well below the now \$320 billion cost⁵⁰ of the tax cuts.⁵¹

Recognising that scrapping the cuts entirely is politically unpalatable, the Australia Institute has offered four alternatives that both leave median and average income earners better off, and provide Government with more resilience in the budget to adapt to the challenges we will continue to face.⁵²

Such alternatives would enable Government to better support a whole array of services (including support for the homelessness sector), that enable Australians to flourish and contribute back to society.

Climate resilience and disaster preparedness

Homelessness is an emergency in and of itself, regardless of the occurrence of a natural disaster or weather events due to climate change. In *Building the Disaster Resilience of the Homeless Community*, authors Every and Richardson point out the immense additional pressures on homeless service providers in severe weather. Services that are already under-resourced can spend significant amounts — more than \$20,000 in some cases — responding to natural disasters. While this may include infrastructure damage, it is most likely to be related to staffing costs for increases in client presentations and staff workload:

Staff work extra hours in difficult conditions, may be affected by disasters themselves, and may not be aware of what to do in the situation.

The service most impacted by severe weather is outreach. Outreach is also the most effective way to reach clients to warn them about emergencies and to assist them to respond. More restricted outreach impacts on client's safety during severe weather.

A 2019 survey completed by 161 Australian homeless service providers, together with 45 interviews, identified a range of ways that would assist organisations to be better prepared and cope more effectively with severe weather events. These comprised:

- financial support for additional staffing hours for disaster planning and response, as well as material (eg clothing, food and protective gear) and staff training for emergency response
- training for staff, volunteers and clients
- funds for identified infrastructure recovery, including infrastructure that is specific for homeless people in evacuation centres (eg trauma care, connections with homeless service providers, substance-withdrawal support)

- material support for clients, including emergency packs, mobile phones, swags, water and food
- good inter-agency collaboration, including cross-agency business continuity planning and disaster planning to share resources and coordinate actions to create clear roles for each organisation when a disaster occurs.⁵⁴

More broadly, the impact of climate change and erratic weather patterns on housing, and particularly on the homes and wellbeing of lower income Australians, is likely to be significant. We support measures to improve the sustainability of homes and communities, including such initiatives as:

- targeted financial support to increase the uptake of renewable energy and energy efficiency, with a particular focus on supporting solar on rental properties⁵⁵
- collaborative activity between the Federal Government and the states to improve minimum rental standards for rental properties to reduce bills and emissions ⁵⁶

Neither of these initiatives, nor any other climate change mitigation proposals, are cost-free. As ACOSS has pointed out, however, climate change will affect low-income households and disadvantaged communities disproportionately. For these Australians, and for the community as a whole, the cost of inaction on climate change is far greater than the cost of action.⁵⁷

5.0 Success factors

A sound evidence base and scalability

In writing this submission, it was noteworthy how often online searches for housing-related initiatives turned up the phrases 'pilot' or 'demonstration' project. History tells us that pilot programs are at the mercy of changes of government, loss of funding and inability to 'scale up', and that we constantly lose the benefit of innovation and good practice developed in such programs because of this.

The National Plan urgently needs to address this issue. A core question in funding applications for new pilots should relate to scalability: how could the initiative be expanded in scope and/or scale to take advantage of the lessons learned? Could it be implemented at a level that would appeal to institutional investors willing to try to make a population-level difference?

Making such demands of innovators means that Government also needs to consider how to incentivise and compensate innovators for sharing their intellectual property. Pilot programs are beneficial testing grounds for new approaches and often provide valuable data that should be shared and built upon by researchers and practitioners across government, university and the community sectors. There is little value in data that stays forever locked in a cabinet.

Workforce

Like most of the community sector, housing and homelessness service providers face challenges obtaining and retaining suitably qualified staff. A recent AHURI report succinctly summarises the workforce pressures:

- Low remuneration, short term contracts and competitive funding models reduce employees' financial security, resulting in experienced staff leaving the sector, and particularly specialist homelessness services.
- Increasingly complex and heavy workloads (including added administrative tasks; tough emotional and problem-solving demands; unrealistic expectations based on outdated KPIs; and the need to navigate welfare systems outside their control), place high physical and psychological demands on staff, including employee mental health.⁵⁸

Maintaining a funding model that does not recognise or reward the complex nature of the work done by staff in this sector is counter-productive. A highly skilled, capable and well-educated housing and homelessness workforce is an investment not only in staff, but in the wellbeing of the clients they assist. Setting and funding a high benchmark in terms of staff credentials, with a medium-to-long term obligation for organisations to gradually meet those requirements in their staffing profile, would benefit staff, clients and the sector.

Coordination and integration of services

As the Issues Paper suggests, the links between homelessness, insecure housing and other social issues are well documented. The National Plan needs to include a focus on the integration of housing with social infrastructure and programs, such as healthcare, transport, and cultural and recreational facilities and investment; and to support coordinated multi-jurisdictional and cross-sectoral approaches and partnerships.

The past has shown us that the rhetoric of collaboration is easier than achieving and maintaining such partnerships. Systems impacting on homelessness, such as health, justice and the community sector, have developed largely in isolation from each other; and their processes, procedures and sometimes philosophies can seem to be incompatible. Collaborative activities can revert to their original siloed form when funding or support is removed, and staff across jurisdictions and sectors return to old habits.

The coordination and integration of services is thus a long game, and needs ongoing attention to be successful. Collaborative structures and processes need to be embedded as business-as-usual. Agreed channels for information-sharing across agencies need to be maintained and nurtured; processes and language developed and/or shared; and effective referral pathways improved. There needs to be ongoing commitment from *all* of the partners that the collaboration is valuable and worth supporting.

One example of a collaborative approach is the Western Australian Department of Communities project to develop a collective, co-designed understanding of the 'No Wrong Door' approach, whereby people can get help regardless of which service or agency they connect with. Knowing that the term meant different things to different government agencies, service providers and the community, the Department instigated a process that revealed shared insights into the challenges, barriers and opportunities of a collaborative 'No Wrong Door' approach. Despite what the report described as "the systemic challenges and complexity of the process", the project identified a range of interconnected initiatives that could improve the experience of people who access and are supported by the homelessness system.⁵⁹

8.0 A final word

In 2020, the House of Representatives Standing Committee on Social Policy and Legal Affairs instigated an inquiry into homelessness in Australia. The final report from that inquiry was informed by five public hearings and more than 200 submissions from government agencies, community groups and individuals. It outlines, too, some of the other reviews and inquiries into homelessness undertaken at the state and federal level in recent years:

- A 2008 White Paper on homelessness, The Road Home⁶¹
- A House of Representatives Standing Committee report, Housing the Homeless, in November 2009⁶²
- the 2015 report of a Senate Economics Committee inquiry into affordable housing, Out of reach? The Australian housing affordability challenge, which included 40 recommendations⁶³
- a 2021 Victorian report that contained 51 recommendations for addressing homelessness in that state⁶⁴
- the annual reports on homelessness of the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare,⁶⁵ and the Productivity Commission's reports on government services.⁶⁶

There is, clearly, an enormous body of qualitative and quantitative research and lived experience input on housing and homelessness. Governments cannot say that there has been no opportunity to hear the voices of those who live the reality day in and day out.

We cannot therefore excuse the continued existence of homelessness by claiming to be unaware of the nature of the problem, or solutions to address it. We must assume that successive governments have chosen not to fix it.

The National Housing and Homelessness Plan is the circuit-breaker opportunity Australians have been waiting for — the chance to do something groundbreaking, and leave a legacy not only those in need of a home, but for the whole community now and in the future.



Endnotes

- Frances, N. 2008. The End of Charity: Time for Social Enterprise. Sydney: Allen & Unwin, p. 12.
- Kaakinen, J. 2016. Lessons from Finland: helping homeless people starts with giving them homes. *The Guardian* [online]. www.theguardian.com/housingnetwork/2016/sep/14/lessons-from-finland-helping-homeless-housing-model-homes
- Wood, L. 2023. Anglicare Southern Queensland Submission into the Senate Community Affairs References Committee Inquiry into the Extent and Nature of Poverty in Australia. Submission 30. Brisbane: Anglicare Southern Queensland. www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=36ac8a07-7a79-44da-afcc-34965e87335e&subId=732480
- Jericho, G. 2022. The pandemic showed us that poverty is a policy choice we must do better. *The Guardian* [online], 15 Dec. www.theguardian.com/business/grogonomics/2022/dec/14/the-pandemic-showed-us-that-poverty-is-a-policy-choice-we-must-do-better
- Adamson, D. 2016. Towards A National Housing Strategy. Compass Housing Services. www.lwb.org.au/assets/Uploads/Compass-National-Strategy-WEB.pdf
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2022. Housing assistance in Australia 2022. Web report. Last update 29 Jun 2022. www.aihw.gov.au/reports/housing-assistance/housing-assistance-in-australia-2022/contents/housing-assistance
- Adamson, D. 2016. *Towards A National Housing Strategy*. Compass Housing Services. www.lwb.org.au/assets/Uploads/Compass-National-Strategy-WEB.pdf
- Adamson, D. 2016. *Towards A National Housing Strategy*. Compass Housing Services. www.lwb.org.au/assets/Uploads/Compass-National-Strategy-WEB.pdf
- Troy, P. 2011. The rise and fall of public housing in Australia. Conference paper, Proceedings State of Australian Cities. openresearchrepository.anu.edu.au/bitstream/1885/62993/2/01_Troy_The_rise_and_fall_of_public_2 011.pdf
- Adamson, D. 2016. *Towards A National Housing Strategy*. Compass Housing Services. www.lwb.org.au/assets/Uploads/Compass-National-Strategy-WEB.pdf, p. 6
- Jericho, G. 2022. The latest data shows the urgent need for more public housing. 1 Dec. australiainstitute.org.au/post/the-latest-data-shows-the-urgent-need-for-more-public-housing/
- Jericho, G. 2022. The latest data shows the urgent need for more public housing. 1 Dec. australiainstitute.org.au/post/the-latest-data-shows-the-urgent-need-for-more-public-housing/
- Adamson, D. 2016. *Towards A National Housing Strategy*. Compass Housing Services. www.lwb.org.au/assets/Uploads/Compass-National-Strategy-WEB.pdf, p. 6
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2022. Housing assistance in Australia 2022. Web report. Last update 29 Jun 2022. www.aihw.gov.au/reports/housing-assistance/housing-assistance-in-australia-2022/contents/housing-assistance
- Adamson, D. 2016. *Towards A National Housing Strategy*. Compass Housing Services. www.lwb.org.au/assets/Uploads/Compass-National-Strategy-WEB.pdf
- Adamson, D. 2016. *Towards A National Housing Strategy*. Compass Housing Services. www.lwb.org.au/assets/Uploads/Compass-National-Strategy-WEB.pdf
- Anglicare Australia. 2023. Rental Affordability Snapshot. National Report. Fourteenth Edition. Canberra: Anglicare Australia. www.anglicare.asn.au/publications/2023-rentalaffordability-snapshot/
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2023. Estimating Homelessness: Census. Released 22 March. www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/housing/estimating-homelessness-census/latest-release
- Resnikoff, N. 2021. Housing First is not Housing Only. Blog post. 21 October. Benioff Homelessness and Housing Initiative, San Francisco. homelessness.ucsf.edu/blog/housing-first-not-housing-only

- Raven, M.C., Niedzwiecki, M.J. and Kushel, M. 2020. A randomized trial of permanent supportive housing for chronically homeless persons with high use of publicly funded services. *Health Services Research*, 55: 797–806. onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1475-6773.13553; Resnikoff, N. 2021. Housing First is not Housing Only. Blog post. 21 October. Benioff Homelessness and Housing Initiative, San Francisco. homelessness.ucsf.edu/blog/housing-first-not-housing-only
- Homelessness Australia. 2022. Homelessness Australia Election Platform. January. homelessnessaustralia.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/211117-Homelessness-Australia-election-platform-FINAL-web.pdf
- Parsell, C. and Jones, A. 2012. Street to Home in Australia: New Approaches to Ending Rough Sleeping in Brisbane and Sydney. St Lucia, Qld: Institute for Social Science Research, The University of Queensland. www.nwhn.net.au/admin/file/content101/c6/Report-8-Street-to-Home-in-Australia.pdf
- National Alliance to End Homelessness. 2021. Data visualization: The evidence on Housing First. endhomelessness.org/resource/data-visualization-the-evidence-on-housing-first/
- Housing First Europe Hub. 2022. Finland Overview. housingfirsteurope.eu/countries/finland
- Homelessness Australia. 2022. Homelessness Australia Election Platform. January. homelessnessaustralia.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/211117-Homelessness-Australia-election-platform-FINAL-web.pdf
- Brkic, N. 2020. COVID-19 demonstrates why Australia needs a 'housing first' approach to homelessness. University of New South Wales, Australian Human Rights Institute [online]. www.humanrights.unsw.edu.au/news/covid-19-demonstrates-why-australia-needs-housing-first-approach-homelessness
- Kaakinen, Juha. 2016. Lessons from Finland: helping homeless people starts with giving them homes. *The Guardian* [online]. www.theguardian.com/housing-network/2016/sep/14/lessons-from-finland-helping-homeless-housing-model-homes
- Cunningham, M. and Batko, S. 2018. Rapid Re-housing's Role in Responding to Homelessness What the Evidence Says. Washington: Urban Institute. www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/99153/rapid_re-housings role in responding to homelessness 3.pdf
- Homeless Hub. Rapid Re-Housing. Website, Canadian Observatory on Homelessness. www.homelesshub.ca/solutions/housing/rapid-re-housing
- U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 2016. *Homelessness Prevention and Rapid Re-Housing Program (HPRP): Year 3 & Final Program Summary.* files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/HPRP-Year-3-Summary.pdf
- Gubits, D., McCall, T. and Wood, M. 2017. Family options study: Effects on family living situation, *Cityscape*, 19: 3: 357–86. Cited at Center for Evidence-based Solutions to Homelessness. Rapid Re-housing. Website. www.evidenceonhomelessness.com/topic/rapid-re-housing
- Robyn Kennedy Consultants. 2013. Evaluation of Rapid Rehousing Project Housing NSW. Final Report. November. facs-web.squiz.cloud/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/325228/RapidRehousingEvaluation.pdf
- Western Australia Department of Communities. 2023. Rapid Rehousing pilot to house women and children leaving refuges. Media release. 28 March. www.wa.gov.au/government/announcements/rapid-rehousing-pilot-house-women-and-children-leaving-refuges
- Bailie, R.S. and Wayte, K.J. 2006. Housing and health in Indigenous communities: key issues for housing and health improvement in remote Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. *Australian Journal of Rural Health* 14:178-83. Cited at www.indigenoushpf.gov.au/measures/2-01-housing#references
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2023. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Performance Framework: Summary Report July 2023. Housing. Canberra: AIHW. www.indigenoushpf.gov.au/report-overview/overview/summary-report/5-tier-2-%E2%80%93-determinants-of-health/housing

- Resnikoff, N. 2021. Housing First is not Housing Only. Blog post. 21 October. Benioff Homelessness and Housing Initiative, San Francisco. homelessness.ucsf.edu/blog/housing-first-not-housing-only
- Pawson, H. and Parsell, C. 2020. COVID spurred action on rough sleepers but greater homelessness challenges lie ahead. 19 October. *The Conversation*. theconversation.com/covid-spurred-action-on-rough-sleepers-but-greater-homelessness-challenges-lie-ahead-147102
- ³⁸ Q Shelter. 2023. *Submission to the SEQ Regional Plan Update*. Brisbane: Q Shelter. qshelter.asn.au/storage/2023/09/20230919-Submission-to-SEQ-Regional-Plan-Final.pdf
- Coates, B. and Moloney, J. 2023. How to Tackle the Rental Crisis. Submission to the Senate Standing Committees on Community Affairs. grattan.edu.au/news/how-to-tacklethe-rental-crisis
- Australian Government. 2023. Delivering on the \$10 billion Housing Australia Future Fund. Joint media release The Hon. Julie Collins MP, Minister for Housing and The Hon. Anthony Albanese MP, Prime Minister of Australia. 11 September. ministers.treasury.gov.au/ministers/julie-collins-2022/media-releases/delivering-10-billion-housing-australia-future-fund
- van den Nouwelant, R. Troy L. and Soundararaj, B. 2022. *Quantifying Australia's Unmet Housing Need: A National Snapshot*. Report prepared for the Community Housing Industry Association. UNSW City Futures Research Centre. cityfutures.ada.unsw.edu.au/documents/699/CHIA-housing-need-national-snapshot-v1.0.pdf
- Anglicare Australia. 2023. Submission to the Senate Inquiry into the Worsening Rental Crisis in Australia. Canberra: Anglicare Australia. www.anglicare.asn.au/wpcontent/uploads/2023/08/Rental-Crisis-submission-FINAL.pdf
- Based on the maximum basic rate of working-age social security payments, from 1 April 2021.
- Australian Council of Social Services. 2023. Indexation fails to deliver the real increase people need. Media release, 3 January. www.acoss.org.au/media-releases/?media release=indexation-fails-to-deliver-the-real-increase-people-need
- Coates, B and Crowley, T. 2021. How to Make Housing More Affordable: Submission to the Parliamentary Inquiry into Housing Affordability and Supply in Australia. grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/HoR-Tax-Inquiry-into-Housing-Supply-September-2021.pdf
- Commonwealth of Australia, Treasury. 2009. Australia's Future Tax System, Report to the Treasurer. Part Two Detailed analysis, p. 491. treasury.gov.au/review/the-australiasfuture-tax-system-review/final-report
- Anglicare Australia. 2023. Reforming Rent Assistance: Ending Rental Stress Across Australia. Canberra: Anglicare Australia. www.anglicare.asn.au/publications/reforming-rent-assistance/
- Jericho, G. 2022. The pandemic showed us that poverty is a policy choice we must do better. *The Guardian* [online], 15 Dec. www.theguardian.com/business/grogonomics/2022/dec/14/the-pandemic-showed-us-that-poverty-is-a-policy-choice-we-must-do-better
- Anglicare Australia. 2022. Church providers issue open letter on tax cuts. Media release, 24 October. www.anglicare.asn.au/2022/10/24/church-providers-issue-open-letter-on-tax-cuts/
- Jericho, G. and Grudnoff, M. 2023. Stage 3 Better: A way for the government to deliver better, fairer tax cuts and save money. 5 Oct. australiainstitute.org.au/post/stage-3-better-a-way-for-the-government-to-deliver-better-fairer-tax-cuts-and-save-money/
- Anglicare Australia. 2022. Church providers issue open letter on tax cuts. Media release, 24 October. www.anglicare.asn.au/2022/10/24/church-providers-issue-open-letter-on-tax-cuts
- Jericho, G. and Grudnoff, M. 2023. Stage 3 Better: A way for the government to deliver better, fairer tax cuts and save money. 5 Oct. australiainstitute.org.au/post/stage-3-better-a-way-for-the-government-to-deliver-better-fairer-tax-cuts-and-save-money/

- Every, D. and Richardson, R. 2017. Building the Disaster Resilience of the Homeless Community. Report prepared by Central Queensland University and the Red Cross in collaboration with VCOSS, NCCARF and ShelterSA for the National Emergency Management Project. www.redcross.org.au/globalassets/cmsassets/documents/emergency-services/building-the-disaster-resilience-of-thehomeless_2.pdf
- Osborn, E., Every, D. and Richardson, J. 2018. Disaster preparedness: services for people experiencing homelessness and the pressure-cooker response. Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience. knowledge.aidr.org.au/resources/ajem-jan-2019-disaster-preparedness-services-for-people-experiencing-homelessness-and-the-pressure-cooker-response
- Power Together. 2023. Powering Our Future: An Action Plan for Queensland's Cost of Living and Climate Challenges. powertogether.org.au/wpcontent/uploads/2023/05/9043.QCC_.Power-Together-Report_v6.pdf
- Power Together. 2023. Powering Our Future: An Action Plan for Queensland's Cost of Living and Climate Challenges. powertogether.org.au/wpcontent/uploads/2023/05/9043.QCC .Power-Together-Report v6.pdf
- Australian Council of Social Services (ACOSS). Climate change. Web page. www.acoss.org.au/climate
- James, A., Dunlop, P.D., Gilbert, C., Gilbert, J., Gagné, M., Parsell, C., Cawthray, J. and Farid, H. 2023. *Investigative Panel into Building and Retaining an Effective Homelessness Sector Workforce*, AHURI Final Report No. 409. Melbourne: Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute Limited. www.ahuri.edu.au/research/final-reports/409
- Government of Western Australia Department of Communities. 2020. *Enabling a No Wrong Door System in Homelessness: Proposals from Co-design.*www.wa.gov.au/system/files/2021-06/no-wrong-door-report.pdf
- Australian Government House of Representatives Standing Committee on Social Policy and Legal Affairs. 2021. *Final Report: Inquiry into Homelessness in Australia*. www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/House/Social_Policy_and_Legal_A ffairs/HomelessnessinAustralia/Report/section?id=committees%2freportrep%2f024522%2 f75110
- Australian Government Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs. 2008. *The Road Home: A National Approach to Reducing Homelessness*. apo.org.au/sites/default/files/resource-files/2008-12/apo-nid2882.pdf
- Australian Government House of Representatives Standing Committee on Family, Community, Housing and Youth. 2009. Housing the Homeless Report on the Inquiry into Homelessness Legislation.

 www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/House_of_Representatives_Committees?url=fchv/homelessness/report/fullreport%20as%20at%2025%20nov.pdf
- Australian Government Senate Economics References Committee. 2015. Out of Reach? The Australian Housing Affordability Challenge.

 www.aph.gov.au/parliamentary business/committees/senate/economics/affordable housing 2013/report
- Parliament of Victoria Legal and Social Issues Committee. 2021. Inquiry into homelessness in Victoria Final Report. Melbourne. new.parliament.vic.gov.au/4a00ae/contentassets/0c6d61c7d86d4971bf50c2573cb534b2/inquiry-into-homelessness-in-victoria---final-report.pdf
- eg Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2022. Specialist homelessness services annual report 2021–22. Web report. Cat. no: HOU 331. Last updated 8 Dec. www.aihw.gov.au/reports/homelessness-services/specialist-homelessness-services-annual-report/contents/clients-services-and-outcomes
- eg Productivity Commission. 2023. Report on Government Services 2023. PART G: Housing and homelessness. Released 24 JANUARY. www.pc.gov.au/ongoing/report-on-government-services/2023/housing-and-homelessness